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The Chair (Mr. Michael Levitt (York Centre, Lib.)): I call the
meeting to order.

Good afternoon, everyone. Welcome to the 107th meeting of the
Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs and International Develop-
ment.

We're going to be hearing from two witnesses today, after which
we're going to be doing some committee business.

I want to welcome Daniel Blaikie to the committee. He's filling in
for Hélene Laverdicre.

Ms. Dickson, you're going to be the first witness today. Ms.
Dickson is the executive director of the Arctic Athabaskan Council.

Whenever you're ready, Ms. Dickson, please begin your
testimony.

Ms. Cindy Dickson (Executive Director, Arctic Athabaskan
Council): Thank you. I will begin by giving a short background
history of myself and the AAC. I will then provide you with a little
bit of information on some of the work of the AAC and the
connections to our community and the circumpolar regions.

I come from a small community in the northern regions of Yukon
Territory. 1 was raised by my grandfather, Lazarus Charlie, in Old
Crow, Yukon. Our community has been quite isolated. To this day, it
is isolated. We are a fly-in only community.

When [ was growing up, we were raised without any type of
plumbing or running water, and the main staple of our diet was the
Porcupine caribou herd. We had that for breakfast, lunch, and dinner.
It provided our clothing. My grandfather was born and raised out on
the land, and he worked with archaeologists for many years, helping
them to understand the region in Old Crow.

I began my work with the Arctic Council back in 1999. At that
time, I worked for a program called the northern contaminants
program in Whitehorse. We would be provided the opportunity to
attend some meetings of the Arctic monitoring assessment program,
which is a working group of the Arctic Council. Basically, that's how
we got started with the Arctic Council work here in Canada.

Over the years, we have really tried to connect our communities to
the work of the Arctic Council through the working groups. It's been
quite a long learning process for us. Our communities are very small
and they have to deal with many issues.

One of the highlights of doing this type of work is being able to
connect our communities with other circumpolar communities that
have similar issues and stories. They have projects they share with
us, and the results. Sometimes we try to emulate and connect with
these different projects in various regions.

One of the first permanent participants of the Arctic Council to
which we did connect was RAIPON. RAIPON is situated in
Moscow. There are over 30 indigenous peoples that are part of
RAIPON.

When we first made a connection, we were invited to one of their
congresses. We brought some of our leaders to Moscow. For many of
them, it was the first time they had travelled outside of their region. It
really opened our eyes to the importance of making these
connections and trying to do work in light of all the changes that
are taking place in our region, like climate change.

There's a lot of in-migration of people from different parts of
Canada and the world. We see new species coming into our regions,
and everything seems to be going a lot faster, yet we are not quite
keeping up with some of the changes.

The Chair: I just want to make sure you can still hear us.
Ms. Cindy Dickson: Yes, I can still hear you.
The Chair: Okay, please keep going.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: Early on in our work we did have the
opportunity to have some exchanges back and forth with RAIPON
and with members of the Arctic Athabaskan Council. One of the
highlights was working on an exchange between hunters and
herders. Part of the reason we did this is that we were doing some
work on IPY, the International Polar Year, and in our region one of
the biggest issues is caribou. Our people wanted to know a little bit
more about herding and the pros and cons of herding.

We shared some of the information back and forth between our
people and got a broader and better understanding of why things are
the way they are. I think at some point in the future that might be a
possibility for us as the caribou numbers begin to go down because
of climate change and because their migration routes might be
changing, so we looked for solutions within our circumpolar
neighbourhood.
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In our region our people have always had lower levels of
education, and our elders have always taught us that education is
very important and that we need to continue moving forward. We
have a lot more graduates, but at the same time it's still a struggle. I
think, looking at different examples around the circumpolar region,
that in Russia and in the Scandinavian countries we see higher levels
of indigenous peoples with high levels of education.

We are members of the University of the Arctic. We try to make
those connections between our educators, and that has been very
helpful with regard to continuing outreach within the circumpolar
world on Arctic Council issues.

We have brought people into our region to talk about the
Convention on the Law of the Sea. Although our people are not right
on the coast, we see future possibilities for becoming more involved
with some of the studies to provide information to our people about
what is going on in that region. Sometimes it's quite unbelievable to
smaller communities to know that there are discussions and
decisions being made in the region. To us it seems that there are
very limited opportunities, but we know that with the changing
climate, all of this is changing, so we reach out to some of our
neighbours within our own area to discuss these issues.

One of our members in northern Canada did say that in
comparison to some regions, the populations in our region are quite
small. How would we deal with disaster situations if something were
to happen on our coast within reach of these smaller communities?
How are we prepared?

We participated in some preparation exercises with search and
rescue mock-ups. We brought communities together, our indigenous
communities, to see what some of the issues might be.

® (1535)

Connecting all of this is the fact that other countries might be
interested in the Arctic. We hear a bit about climate refugees. We
hear about illegal substances that might be moving through Arctic
waters and coming inland, and our people are not equipped to deal
with such large issues. ['ve had the opportunity to attend a couple of
meetings in Halifax. One was an Arctic security forum. They
mentioned that in the north we have our Rangers, but our Rangers
are not equipped to deal with such issues.

What we have noticed is that there has been some discussion
about the Chinese “silk road”. We see an influx of companies
moving into Canada or partnering with Canada or others around the
circumpolar world. China is expanding, and our people still have
concerns about some of the human rights issues they see on the
news, yet we do have a large, growing Chinese community here in
the Yukon.

We welcome them. We learn. Their cultures are quite similar to
ours if you go back to their ancient history. Our people have never
been one to leave others out.

However, at the same time we notice there's a huge influx of
people into our regions. Maybe one of the future discussions we
would need to have is around migration, in order to understand it
better, to have more of an understanding of how many people are
moving into the northern regions as opposed to southern Canada.

The reason, in part, is that our community members don't always
see or don't look at personal property. When we're in a community,
we have our land claims here in Canada, so everything is owned by
everyone, including the land. When you come to more southern,
urban areas, such as Whitehorse, all of a sudden you need to buy
land. A lot of property is being bought by people from even outside
of Canada. A lot of other people are moving in from other countries.

Just for the future, knowing that there's an increase globally in
population, we need to look at these areas.

Working within the Arctic Council, I see the need for more
information coming north. There's a need for some of these issues to
be brought forward to our people. We need more information, better
education, more research directed to international or circumpolar
communities, and we need to have community-based opportunities
to participate.

® (1540)

Education, I think, is going to be quite important, as well as
dissemination of information to our communities. Right now we
have limited possibility at the Arctic Council level. The Arctic
Council does put out newsletters and it has a website, but there's still
nothing better than having meetings or workshops in the north at our
community levels to talk about some of these issues, to bring forth
any future issues that experts are saying may come to pass.

One of the key areas for our people is the caribou herds. We see a
lot of the numbers going down. The Porcupine caribou herd is still
quite stable at the highest level it has ever been at, but the migration
patterns are changing, which leads to food security issues in our
communities. We do hear the same from some of the herders we
have contact with—

® (1545)

The Chair: Ms. Dickson, I'm wondering if you could maybe take
another minute or so just to conclude. I want to make sure we leave
plenty of time for members to ask you questions, because I know
they're going to have many. If you could maybe just wrap up
testimony, we'll get into the question phase.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: All right.

Just to wrap up, I think education is quite important, as well as
research, more circumpolar opportunities for our communities, and
food security. Also, I would just really stress the importance of
coming into our communities to have these discussions.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much. We're going to be heading up
north next week as a committee, and hearing from you was a great
introduction.

Let's go straight into questions. We're going to begin with MP
O'Toole, please.



September 26, 2018

FAAE-107 3

Hon. Erin O'Toole (Durham, CPC): Thank you very much for
participating in this meeting. We appreciate your making the time.
I'm sorry about some of the technical difficulties you have to work
under.

I found a lot of your discussion quite interesting, particularly your
discussion of the Arctic Council and the work with indigenous
communities in Russia and Scandinavia. You mentioned people from
your organization travelling to Moscow to go to its convention. I'm
wondering if, from the viewpoint of remote communities in our
north and from those interactions through the council, we have been
able to take back ideas, learnings, and economic development
opportunities that we've seen be successful in other polar regions in
those countries.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: I think there's been quite a lot of discussion
about economic opportunities with our Russian counterparts, as well
as those within Scandinavia. There were some good exchanges
between our communities, and great ideas. We were able to look at
minerals and at forestry, and we were able to discuss micro-
businesses between our communities, the possibility that at some
point we'd be able to get some of our homemade crafts to these other
markets in Russia or in Scandinavia, and vice versa. There was a lot
of sharing of artistic abilities. We looked at some of the really great
industries in Scandinavia around home-based products.

I think there was a lot of really good exchange of information, but
the next step is how to do that. We're not quite sure. That is the next
area that we really need to focus on, because micro-businesses are
much different from large-scale businesses.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: You also mentioned that some of the
Scandinavian indigenous communities have, I think you said, a
better track record with respect to education and a number of things
like that.

Is there any specific reason? Is there more of a role for
government in terms of support for young people in isolated
communities? What can we learn from their success in that area?

® (1550)

Ms. Cindy Dickson: Well, it is my understanding that in
Scandinavia and in Russia, their higher education institutes are free.
People are able to go to universities, and in Scandinavia—
[Technical difficulty—Editor]

The Chair: Sorry about that, Ms. Dickson. We'll just....

I think we're okay again. We apologize for that.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: It's still beeping here.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: I mention Russia, and things get crossed up.
The Chair: We're back on. You have my apologies.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: I have a few minutes left.

You had mentioned some of the differences: better access, free

tuition, these sorts of things. My final question is on the education
piece.

I particularly appreciated your talking about your personal
background in a remote fly-in community and being raised by your
grandfather.

For education, whether it's through the University of the Arctic or
elsewhere, for those who access it, is there a problem with people
going south for education and then not returning north? Is that
something you see as a phenomenon, and then that in itself is
perhaps a barrier to education because of families not wanting to lose
children and family to the south? Is that a real dynamic? I've heard
that before, and I'm wondering if there are things we can do to
reduce that.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: I think it's a bit of both. Some students leave
for the south; they want other opportunities. What I have also seen is
people moving back north once they've had the experience of living
and working elsewhere.

I think in the smaller communities, part of the issue is that in the
lower-level grades, we have many students and we have one teacher.
Sometimes they teach one, two, or three grades. Then you have to
leave your community to go to high school in Whitehorse, and
sometimes there are culture shock issues. There hasn't been a lot of
support in the past.

On the education level, our institutions are lagging behind a bit.
These are some of the challenges.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: Do I have any time left?

The Chair: No. Thank you very much.

We are now going to move straight to MP Saini.

Mr. Raj Saini (Kitchener Centre, Lib.): Good afternoon, Ms.
Dickson. It's a pleasure to have you on this committee.

I'm going to focus my questions on two areas: One is on health,
and one is on the northern contaminants program, for which I know
you were instrumental in writing the traditional knowledge guide-
line.

Given that the melting ice right now is leading to the opening of
new maritime routes, obviously there's going to be a risk of
contamination. What do you feel would be the ultimate impact of
that, not only on contamination and the environment but also on
your traditional food sources?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: That's a good question.

With regard to health, I think one of the larger impacts in regard to
the changing climate is not going to be contaminants per se; it's
going to be the increase in precipitation. It's going to affect people
who already have issues with their lungs and also small babies or
elders. We are not used to a lot of precipitation in our area. Our air is
very dry. I think that's a huge factor that we are starting to see.
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With regard to the northern contaminants program, I think that
program is still going on. It's quite a stellar program that connects the
local people to international sources. In that program, they also
provide the opportunities for our people to discuss any issues that
might be moving forward. They have a very good education
component whereby they disseminate the information so the
communities can make informed choices. I think that's a good way
to go. We work with federal health officials, researchers, and people
at the community level, and together they make those decisions on
where to focus.

® (1555)

Mr. Raj Saini: That leads into my second question. One thing I
didn't realize is that the Arctic has a very efficient system of
bioaccumulation and biomagnification of contaminants, which is
something of a new phenomenon right now, as opposed to the past.
Obviously that is having an impact on health.

T ask this for selfish reasons, because I'm a health care professional
and I want to know more. You mentioned the dry climate, lungs, and
precipitation. You have this system and you're saying that there's
more precipitation, and obviously that will lead to more bioaccu-
mulation. I know that you do a lot of work in testing fish in Little
Fox Lake, I think, which I believe is in Yukon, where you're
checking the bioaccumulation of contaminants. My question is, what
impacts have you been seeing over the last several years that are
different from what was present before?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: I can comment briefly.

Some of the impacts that are coming forward are increasing levels
of certain contaminants in different areas. Right now, the concern is
mercury, but we are still saying that there are more health benefits to
eating our fish than not eating them. They're giving some
recommendations for pregnant women and for younger children to
not eat as much or to refrain from it.

We see more research and workshops giving out the information
in our communities through that program. There is a study in Old
Crow right now. They're going to be looking at different types of
contamination, and they will be taking hair samples, which we've
never done in the past, in looking more at mercury.

Mr. Raj Saini: I have a last question. You're working within our
Arctic Council, and you have the opportunity through the Arctic
Council to collaborate with other people who live in the Arctic. Are
you finding that there are other populations, not necessarily in
Canada but maybe in Russia or in other areas, that are similarly
facing somewhat of a rising health risk or a health risk that is
different from what they were used to before?

Before, there was no contamination to some extent, and different
contaminants now are being introduced into that area. Are you
finding that it's similar in the Arctic amongst other countries and
communities, or is it specific to one area?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: No, it's similar in other regions. There are
different health concerns, but AMAP, the Arctic monitoring and
assessment program of the Arctic Council, really deals very well
with a lot of the emerging issues or issues that have been
documented from the past. They do get together and have very
good discussions. Canada is really one of the only countries I know

of that connects the northern contaminants program to AMAP very
well. We give the results to AMAP and then share that broadly.

® (1600)
Mr. Raj Saini: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

We'll move now to MP Blaikie.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie (ElImwood—Transcona, NDP): Thank you
very much.

Thank you for your work and thank you for your time here today.

My question probably has a few different components to it, but it
centres largely around the opening up of the north for commercial
activity as climate change progresses. Oftentimes in Canada's
history, when the rights of indigenous people have been ignored or
indigenous people have been displaced, there's usually been an
economic imperative, not always but often because somebody wants
to develop this or develop that.

I'm curious to know, first of all, what you see as some of the risks
to increased commercial development in the north, and I'm curious
also to know what you think some of the potential benefits for your
communities are.

Finally, what kind of framework do you think we could be putting
in place now to ensure that we can maximize the benefits to your
communities and to Canada while ensuring that we don't repeat
mistakes of the past, where indigenous people have been pushed out
once there's been economic interest from others?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: Those are very interesting questions,
because I have been involved with some of these issues myself.

Communities want to see economic development. They do want
to see our communities prosper. The generations that are now
starting to get into higher levels of education want to be able to see
success and to have opportunities as other Canadians do. That said,
there is also a sense of wanting to make sure that the lands given out
for economic opportunity have as little impact as possible and that
the technology that moves into our areas is deemed safe.

The way to do this is really to have good discussions with our
communities and with the leaders. You need to start this framework
quite early. We do have YESAB here in the territory, which looks at
impacts and benefits. They are the ones who give the social licence
to have economic opportunities.
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At the community level, I think you must go into the regions well
before anything takes place. You have to talk to people. You have to
give them a big-picture view with a long outreach of 10 to 20 years
on what the vision is for that area. You have to work so that the
people are well informed and have opportunity. You have to bring
forward very early the pros and cons of some of these economic
opportunities.

This is particularly true with oil and gas development. In our
region we have a lot of mining. We've had it for over 100 years, and
people are quite familiar with it. Oil and gas is something different.
We haven't had that here in the north. There could be a lot of
education moving forward. People talk about the Law of the Sea.
What are the different routes if there's going to be an extractive
industry in that area? Start gearing education components to our
people so that they could become the petroleum engineers, etc., and
not always the menial caste labour.

© (1605)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: How important do you think it is for
Canadian sovereignty in the north that any investments in projects be
made by either the Government of Canada or by Canadian
companies, as opposed to foreign companies? Do you see that as
playing out differently, depending on where the money comes from,
for your communities? What do you think might be the importance
of that for Canadian sovereignty?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: I think Canadian sovereignty is really
important to our communities. [ think our communities would be
more supportive of Canadian companies. Our communities take
quite a bit of pride in helping to establish and maintain sovereignty
just by virtue of the areas they live in.

I'll give you an example. Sinopec, a Chinese company, invested in
a local company in Yukon that was doing exploration, and the
communities did not accept that. They now have more acceptance of
the company because the company was bought out. Sinopec is no
longer in the picture, and the communities are now listening.

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you.

We will now move to MP Sidhu, please.

Mr. Jati Sidhu (Mission—Matsqui—Fraser Canyon, Lib.):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you for your testimony here today, Ms. Dickson. It's very
important, because we're coming to the region next week.

You touched on a lot of important issues with the changes with
Russia and China. I'm pretty sure you know the changes coming into
the area. | was wondering how important traditional knowledge of
indigenous people is when we're going forward with the policy. How
are you going to participate in the dialogue when we're trying to
shape the policy for development in that area?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: Thank you.
Traditional knowledge is at the heart of everything we do. It is

very key to our work and understanding who we are as a people. We
still practise a lot of land-based activities. We still go hunting.

I just came back from hunting this past weekend. We try to make
sure that we only take what we need for our family and our friends
and elders. We still practise being respectful to our elders. We always
ensure that if there is an elder in the room who's older than us, they
are provided with the utmost respect, because their knowledge and
experience are their higher education, and it goes back much longer
than ours.

Our communities are really grounded in the fact that they live in
the area where their parents and grandparents and great-grandparents
have lived. We think of traditional knowledge as ongoing. The only
reason we say “traditional” is that it comes from way back, but it's
still moving forward and it's still very much alive. Our people have
always been able to adapt different elements into our everyday
living.

Boiling it down, it's respect for the land because the land feeds us;
respect for the animals that give their lives so we can live, and trying
to treat everybody with respect.

My grandfather always said that when he travels, he has friends in
all the communities. What he is saying is that all this respect for one
another is the key to traditional knowledge.

® (1610)
Mr. Jati Sidhu: Thank you so much.

You've touched on two countries, Russia and China. Correct me if
I'm wrong, but do you think that China would be the first one to
explore that area? Do you feel comfortable with them coming into
the area and exploring it? At the same time, China has been investing
heavily in that region, so there's going to be some hope for China. I'd
be very careful, but China doesn't have very high environmental
practices when they explore. How do you see both countries playing
a role in the Arctic?

Ms. Cindy Dickson: People I've had discussions with at the
community level are a little bit concerned about Chinese companies
coming into our areas because of their environmental practices and
human rights practices. They are not comfortable, but at the same
time, it is happening. China is moving into certain areas

I think knowledge is key. It's better to be prepared and to be
knowledgeable about what's going on. If they want to come into
certain areas and do business, maybe this is where we could have
some influence or our Canadian government could have some
influence on some of the practices that we don't consider right.
Maybe this is a role through which our government can influence
some of those practices.

In regard to Russia, we absolutely respect the people. We respect
the high levels of education that the indigenous people have in
Russia. At the same time, we also see a lot of the hardships that
people have there. We're very careful when we send our own people
over. We hope that there can be better connections between Siberia,
Alaska and Canada to establish those kinds of routes—rather than
going all the way around.

Thank you.
Mr. Jati Sidhu: Thank you so much.
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The Chair: Ms. Dickson, that brings us to the end of our time, but
I want to thank you for coming and giving us such a wide-ranging
testimony. This is tremendously important and beneficial, as we are
heading up north early next week. On behalf of everybody on the
committee, thank you very much for taking the time to join us today.

Ms. Cindy Dickson: Thank you.
The Chair: I'm going to suspend now.

* o1 (Pause)

®(1615)
The Chair: I'm calling this meeting back to order.

We are fortunate to have our second panel of witnesses here. From
Quebec, we have the Honourable Charlie Watt, president of Makivik
Corporation and former senator. He retired this past January after 34
years. Joining him is Robin Campbell, associate at Hutchins Legal
Inc.

Mr. Watt, would you like to begin your testimony? I understand
we might be hearing a short bit from Ms. Campbell as well. Please
proceed.

Hon. Charlie Watt (President, Makivik Corporation): Thank
you, honourable members of the House of Commons.

It's been a while now that I haven't been around, but I have learned
to enjoy being part of the overall system. At the same time, I have
specific issues that I would like to address, matters that may be of
concern to you and that are certainly of concern to the Inuit in the
Arctic. That's probably one of the reasons I was inside the system
and decided to get out of the system and do what I can from the
outside to continuously raise the importance of issues that all of us
face today, especially with the climate change that is taking place.
The country is not the same as it used to be.

As you know, very recently, I think only about a week ago, we got
hit with something that I have never witnessed in Canada before—
the tornado that passed through Ottawa. It went through Gatineau
and also Laval, which I witnessed when I went to Montreal.

That said, for many years I've been here in Ottawa. I remember the
first time I came here was, 1 think, two weeks after I addressed the
issue that is coming, which the Inuit already were living with—that
is, climate change. We see every day that a big change has taken
place. The Inuit in the north live with that on a daily basis. I thought
I would just cover that as a preamble to what I have to say.

Good afternoon, honourable members. Thank you for the
opportunity to speak to you today. I'm not sure whether I recognize
some people here. I was going to say that I'm glad to see the familiar
faces, but I see a very limited number of familiar faces here.
Anyway, time goes by and changes take place. The new people come
and go.

Honourable members, my name is Charlie Watt, as you know.
Until the spring, as the chair mentioned, I was a sitting senator for
the region of Inkerman, Quebec. I was on the job for 34 years, as the
chair mentioned. I was Canada's only Inuit senator. I was not the
only Inuit senator when I first came here. Senator Willie Adams was
already here when I arrived in the Senate chamber. I did work with
him on a number of different fronts. When he left, when his time to

go came, then it was a bit of a lonely place for me as an Inuk
speaking fluently in my own language. Willie was also fluent in this
language. Willie was a great contributor towards what I have learned
within the system.

As Canada's only Inuit senator, I focused on issues important to
the Inuit. Arctic sovereignty is a subject that is very important to me
and my people. The Senate financed several studies on this issue
while I was here. As a matter of fact, the study that we undertook
took us, I would say, maybe six to seven years. We concentrated on
where the Inuit sit on this whole issue of sovereignty. We looked into
domestic rights, which had been built for some years, and also
looked at international rights. We came up with three sets of reports
that we tabled to the government. I believe you have a copy of those.

® (1620)

The first one was done in the year 2012, and the title of it is “Inuit:
Canada’s Treaty Partners or Free Agents?”” You might be wondering
why we added on the free agents. That indicates where we belong,
who we are, who owns the Arctic, who lives in the Arctic, who relies
on the Arctic, for social, economic, educational and cultural
purposes. As you know, we have lived in the Arctic for many
years, long before any other society came to Canada, and I think that
is very well known.

When you're facing a subject like Arctic sovereignty, knowing
that there is a great deal of interest from outside Canada in the
international communities makes you nervous. It makes you nervous
that there's going to be an influx of people who have money, political
clout, moving in. At times when I see the requests that are made by
various countries wanting to become observers, to get observer
status within the Arctic Council, I say to myself, “Well, it's observer
status now, but it will be more than observer status later on down the
road.”

When people come in from different parts of the world and they
have money, they will definitely have an influence over what
happens to Canada. This worries me a great deal. On that account,
I'm here to try to emphasize how important it is for the Inuit people
to engage in this process. I see the rationale behind government's
intention in terms of the way that they're engineering this and
structuring it out to allow seven Arctic countries to be able to
highlight what their concerns are, but at the same time they are also
dealing with the continental shelfs and so on, by way of trying to
extend their jurisdiction beyond their jurisdiction. I'm talking about
the seven Arctic countries.

At the same time those people probably will be given an absolute
power and the rights to do whatever they want to do if they do
manage to succeed in establishing the boundary on the continental
shelf. What does that mean to us? It means that the countries from
the outside world that have an interest in extracting resources will
have an access. They're going to have a large role to play within our
society, definitely within the Inuit society, because they're going to
be extracting certain things under our feet.

T also would like to mention that the Inuit in the north live not only
on the land. This is probably hard to understand. How can any
human being live on the ice? As you know, in wintertime when the
Inuit are travelling, they travel by ice, by water, and by land.
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I was able to get myself a very credible individual from Dalhousie
University a few years ago, and we did the mapping of the Inuit trail
from the northern Quebec side, which is called Nunavik, on up to
Nunavut, on up to the Northwest Passage to Greenland, and also
towards Alaska and Siberia. The part that's already completed is on
the Canadian side, but we still have to push for countries like
Greenland to work something out with the Danish government to be
able to do the same thing—map out exactly how they live and how
they travel, what they relied on. That information is very important,
especially when you're going to be having people coming in from
outside Canada, wanting to know. They're probably not even going
to care too much about wanting to know. They'll be wanting to
extract, take something, and take it home, and turn it into a dollar.

Honourable members, I have a tendency at times to go on and on,
and I like to try to limit myself as much as possible, because I only
have so much time.

® (1625)

What I wanted to say to you is to stretch it to the point is where
hopefully everybody will understand. The Inuit are the backbones of
Canada's sovereignty in the Arctic. Another fact, to tell you the truth,
is some of my people from the Quebec side, from the Nunavik side,
have been moved—the whole family, that is—by boat, by ship, to
the Resolute Bay area, into the high Arctic with no facilities, no
assistance. They were just literally dropped on the shore under the
name of sovereignty.

Those were placed there by the Canadian government, and at that
time, during the years of the 1950s, government mobility in the north
were limited. They were basically represented by the RCMP at the
time. The directions were given by the government, but the RCMP
would have to take action to enforce certain things that were given to
the RCMP by the government.

As you can see, we have reasons that we want to be a part of it,
and not only to be a part in terms of knowing what's happening but
also to have a full right to take part. If there is going to be something
economically, which there will be, it should not only be going
outside of our country. We'd like to tap into those resources, because
we need to live, the same as everybody else. We have to survive, so
the economy is very important to us.

Right now we have a traditional economy. There is not too much
of an economy, other than the traditional economy. The traditional
economy is to seek out and do your harvesting in the same sort of
similar way that you harvest as a farmer. We don't have farms, but
we do go out, whether it's on the boat, whether it's in the canoe, or
whether it's on the plane or snow machine or whatever. In the old
days it used to be the dog teams. That was the only transportation we
had in the old days. That no longer exists. For your information,
those dogs were also slaughtered in the early years by the RCMP.

What was the rationale behind the actions that were taken by
them? Nobody really wanted to come out publicly and describe
exactly why that happened. This isn't really related to Arctic
sovereignty, but it's one of the issues that make me tend to believe
that we have to be involved in the whole thing.

The Inuit have been present in the Arctic for thousands of years
and were sovereign people long before Canada's existence, as |

mentioned to you. Since time immemorial we have lived on the land
and ice-covered water in the Arctic and used the resources of the
land and water to grow as a people. We are deeply connected to not
just the land, but also the Arctic Ocean and all the Arctic wildlife.
The Inuit are the people who occupied marine areas. The Inuit live
on the ice and hunt and travel across it.

Also, we have a different land claims agreement in each of our
four land claims regions. The Inuit of Canada are taxpayers.
Sometimes people have forgotten that the Inuit too pay taxes. We're
not the same as first nations. We have been full-fledged taxpayers
from day one up to now.

We always feel as Inuit that we have to also help to put an input
into the bigger society with the people who live in the south.
Hopefully, the fact that we decided to become taxpayers in the early
years will be appreciated by Canada. For that reason, we are
contributors to the needs of Canada. On top of that I'd just like to
mention to you that before...after I was...no, not really.

® (1630)

Take a look at the Nunavik corporation that I represent, Makivik.
We've done well as Inuit, but then again, we still need to do more.
We've been able to succeed and have done quite well in the aviation
sector. We own the two big airline companies. One is called Air Inuit
and the other one is First Air. This coming Friday, we are about to
merge another airline company into us, which is Canadian North.
Those are the types of arrangements taking place, and we are quite
capable of administering and running companies and producing
economic opportunities on our own, which are very limited today.

When you look at the payload of goods that flow from the south to
the north, it's a one-way flow in terms of economic viability. What's
coming out of the north is very limited. For that reason, we are now
going through the exercise on the aviation side of amalgamating the
two airline companies. There is not enough room for two. This is one
of the things we're doing, just to show you what we deal with. We
know what we deal with.

When you look at the needs of the many companies that are trying
to make ends meet, at times everyone doesn't benefit because there
are limited economic opportunities. Let me go a step further.

Am I going a little too slow or spending too much time?
® (1635)

Ms. Robin Campbell (Associate, Hutchins Legal Inc.): You
have a few more minutes.

Hon. Charlie Watt: Okay.

I would like to mention also that we do have access to an
instrument, aside from Makivik Corporation, which is a national
organization called ITK. It is also engaged with the Government of
Canada on a Crown-relationship basis.

We also have another organization called ICC, the Inuit
Circumpolar Council. I was at that meeting just a few months ago
in Point Barrow, Alaska. We talked about a number of different
issues that are related and are of concern to the Inuit.
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We passed a huge number of declarations that we consider to be
important and that need to be known by the outside world in order
for us to survive. Climate change is a big factor. The food chain is
being affected. The security of our food is being affected. We have to
become a very heavily innovative people.

At times, we look around to see where we can get help. Maybe the
only way that we can get help is if we make it explicitly clear that
without money there's very little we can do, even in the north. We
need money. Without money, there's very little you can do, as I
mentioned.

There was another instrument that I helped build in the very early
years, which is the Arctic Council. It allows seven Arctic countries to
rotate on the chairmanship of that organization. Where are the Inuit?
They have permanent participation. What does that participation
mean? It's a token participation. They don't have a very clear voice in
terms of being able to use it to get their points across. They're not
decision-makers. Even when it comes down to their life, they don't
make decisions. Who makes the decisions? It's the seven Arctic
countries. We have no role. The only role that we have is tokenism.

That has to change. If we're going to get somewhere and close the
gap between understanding what we're dealing with, that instrument
has to change. We have to be able to learn to accept the permanent
residents of the Arctic. It's their homeland; they have to be part of it.
I was even wondering why they aren't calling on them to bring them
in as a chair of the Arctic Council.

This is an issue I've been dealing with over the last 15 years.
They're trying to make the point. I'm trying to get these different
countries, ambassadors and so on, to understand. They do under-
stand it, but they think, if we allow you to have access, what about
the others?

Here we are dealing with the question of the Arctic. It's a very
sensitive Arctic, as you know. It's a very special area. It's a last
frontier. Inuit have lived there for thousands of years, before
anybody else, so they must have some understanding of what the
Arctic is all about. The rest of the world can learn from that. Now,
they leave us on the side and never bother to give us an answer as to
where we stand in regard to this whole development.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator.

Ms. Campbell, did you want to take a short couple of minutes?
Ms. Robin Campbell: Absolutely. I'm just—
Hon. Charlie Watt: I'll make sure that she covers the legal part of

The Chair: Okay, but keep it to a maximum of three minutes,
please.

Ms. Robin Campbell: Absolutely.

I'm going to come behind Senator Watt really quickly to re-
emphasize the point that Canada's sovereignty does depend on Inuit.
Inuit had effective occupation of the Arctic long before there was
ever a Canada, or any of the Arctic states, and Canada needs this
relationship with Inuit to be able to ground its sovereignty in land
and ultimately in water.

That's done through the treaties. It is incredibly important to
respect the treaties and the fact that the treaties create partnerships
with Inuit. That partnership is a developing partnership. The treaties
are not something that happened and are over; they create a whole
range of management and ways to govern the Canadian north, and
they require an updating.

One of the things that Senator Watt, now president of the Makivik
Corporation, is looking at is updating the James Bay and Northern
Quebec Agreement to make sure that Inuit can properly govern and
are able to go back to the way they used to govern in the north. This
is a priority, and it's a priority across the north.

In addition, you're looking at the continental shelf and extending
Canada's sovereignty to the north. Recognizing that there is this
partnership and that the partnership has benefited Canada by
allowing it to have this sovereignty into the Arctic Ocean, that
sovereignty depends on our sovereignty over the land, and that
sovereignty over the land depends on Inuit. That partnership needs to
be able to extend into the waters of the Arctic and to extend to ocean
governance internationally.

I want to emphasize that this has been a frustration for Inuit,
because the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea, UNCLOS, does
not recognize indigenous peoples' rights. That is a major concern. As
Canada starts to look at its sovereignty in the Arctic over the
extended continental shelf—and it will be making its submission to
the UNCLOS commission that looks at those things in early 2019—
it hasn't, to Makivik's view, properly consulted with Inuit or
recognized Inuit rights or that Inuit are in a partnership. Makivik is
looking for that type of partnership with Canada, and looking for
even that recognition in the submission that's going to be made in
2019.

Further, that partnership should involve working with Inuit to look
at protections for those deep seabed areas, for the oceans that will be
affected, and also looking to partner to ensure that if there are
benefits coming from the exploration and exploitation of those areas
that Inuit benefit from that as well.

1 do want to quickly point out—
® (1640)

The Chair: It's going to have to be in 30 seconds or less, if that's
okay. I want to leave time for all members to get their questions in.

Ms. Robin Campbell: There are two quick recommendations that
we have, then.

There is a new agreement coming up that is being negotiated. It
has just started to be negotiated at the UN. It will affect all the high
seas in the world, and it will, of course, affect the Arctic Ocean.
Canada is involved in this—it's at the UN this September—and we're
looking for Inuit rights in the Arctic to be recognized in this
agreement, which would have a major impact on the UNCLOS
system. It would perhaps amend some of the wrongs of the
UNCLOS system for not having recognized those rights previously
by including them now.

The Chair: Thank you very much to you both.

We'll move right into questions, with MP Alleslev, please.
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Ms. Leona Alleslev (Aurora—OQOak Ridges—Richmond Hill,
CPC): Thank you very much.

My goodness, that was incredibly comprehensive. There are so
many things.

I want to be able to put it in perspective, to make sure that [ have
the big picture. The big picture is that what was in the Arctic is not
what it is today because of some significant changes, not the least of
which is climate change, and also because of a whole bunch of
people interested in some really cool natural resources, such as
minerals and other things. They are now more of an economic driver,
so we have to keep our focus going that way.

The second thing that I heard you say is that we need to focus on
our international policies and figure out what they are going to look
like. How are we going to regulate people who want to come and do
stuft? How are we going to distribute that economic...?

The third thing is that we have a bunch of relationships that we
have to change with the Inuit to support whatever that foreign policy
is. I think I also heard you say that we have to do that at the same
time, because what we're negotiating externally has to be almost
what we're negotiating internally, to make sure we've....

Whoa. How do we do that? What are the three key framework
themes that we have to focus on to be able to unpack this really
complicated but incredibly important topic?

® (1645)

Hon. Charlie Watt: How do we do it? Well, we've been wrestling
with that for quite some time. I was sort of hoping at the beginning
that we were going to get a response from the government right
away, but that did not happen.

Knowing the facts, there is a lot of work that needs to be done, a
lot of adjustment, a lot of amendments, a lot of revisiting of certain
things, and so on.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Just help me out with the first thing, the top
three. We're going to make a recommendation. What do we have to
do first?

Hon. Charlie Watt: I think what we need to do is take those
recommendations. At the same time, recommendations alone are not
good enough unless we have the machinery in place. What is
missing is the machinery. What I call a missing link in the whole
process is to establish a place, a mechanism, whereby we can have
discussion and dialogue on certain issues. Maybe at times we might
want to turn it into a negotiation later on, after the discussion. That's
what's missing.

Ms. Leona Alleslev: Perfect.

I'd like to turn it over to my colleague.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: Thank you both. I only have a couple of
minutes left.

I believe firmly that the duty to consult means both prior to
development and, once a development is under way, substantially
changing that or changing rights over a certain jurisdiction.

In 2016, the Prime Minister, in conjunction with President Obama,
put a ban on Arctic development for 17% of the Arctic land mass

and 10% of the waters. The Premier of the Northwest Territories was
disappointed because there was no consultation whatsoever.

To your knowledge, Senator, was there any consultation with Inuit
communities? I believe you're right; they are the backbone of our
sovereignty.

Hon. Charlie Watt: There have never been clear consultations.
As a matter of fact, when the President of the United States and the
Prime Minister of Canada made that decision, we were not too
happy. Without even coming to us, they just turned around and said,
“This is what's going to happen.”

Hon. Erin O'Toole: You were surprised by it.
Hon. Charlie Watt: Yes.
Hon. Erin O'Toole: It was out of the blue.

Hon. Charlie Watt: A lot of Inuit people didn't know. They were
very surprised.

Hon. Erin O'Toole: Ms. Campbell, would that breach the duty of
consultation required, in your view as an aboriginal lawyer?

Ms. Robin Campbell: The simple answer is yes.
Hon. Erin O'Toole: Thank you. I rest my case.

The Chair: Okay.

We're now going to move to MP Vandenbeld, please.

Ms. Anita Vandenbeld (Ottawa West—Nepean, Lib.): Actu-
ally, Ms. Campbell, when you were winding up your remarks, it
sounded as though you had another recommendation that you
wanted to add. Did you want to take the first moments and finish
your remarks?

Ms. Robin Campbell: I would just point out that ICC Canada is
not here, and we hope that you will meet with ICC. We wanted to
take the opportunity as well to point out that it has a huge mandate. It
has the voice of Inuit internationally on so many different issues, at
so many different fora. It was instrumental in creating the UN
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and it sat on the
Canadian delegation for the recent central Arctic fisheries agreement.
Actually, it is a landmark in itself that ICC was on the Canadian
delegation, and we see that as something that is a best practice, for
sure, and something that should be expanded. It is also underfunded,
so we want to point out that it really deserves much more funding to
play the valuable role that it does.

Ms. Anita Vandenbeld: Senator Watt, you referenced quite a bit
of history, some of that history obviously being very painful. You
referenced—

©(1650)

Hon. Charlie Watt: I'm having a hard time. I didn't put my
earpiece on, So....

Ms. Anita Vandenbeld: Okay, I'll talk a little bit louder for you.
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You talked about history and some of the painful history, like the
forced removals and the slaughtering of the dogs. You also talked
about rights, both domestic and international. With the Inuit being
the backbone of our sovereignty in the north, to what extent are
reconciliation and sovereignty intertwined? To what extent are those
two interdependent, and what would that kind of reconciliation in the
north look like?

Hon. Charlie Watt: When you look at the question of rights, I
think the rights are there, but how are you dealing with that in terms
of using the recognition that you require to be able to consult with
the people that have the rights? This is not what's happening.

How do they intertwine? Well, that's something that's down the
road, and hopefully we'll be able to deal with that. This is what [
mean when I say we end up setting up a table for discussion
purposes and if we need to identify areas that we need to sit down
and negotiate, this is where they're going to have to be rectified.
Whether that is going to....

One of the interesting things is that we have so many rights
overlapping with each other now because of our constitutional rights,
aboriginal rights, negotiated rights, United Nations declarations, and
so on. Those are all of the rights that describe what we could do and
how we could deal with it. I think, as I said earlier on, we need an
estimate. The government has to agree to sit down with us, and we
need to set up a table. The process has to move. If we don't move it,
who's going to move it? Is the government going to act on its own to
move this file, or is it going to use the Inuit in some way, recognizing
the fact that the Inuit are the key to the whole question of Arctic
sovereignty?

Don't forget that we are very close to the next-door neighbours up
north in the Arctic. At times when you see restlessness between the
two countries from time to time, especially with the kind of president
we have on the American side, you don't know what's going to
happen. We need to realign ourselves. We are Canadian. I hope we
are appreciated as Canadians.

Thank you.
Ms. Anita Vandenbeld: I would dare say you are appreciated.

I did pick up on what you said, though, about the tokenism and the
fact that there should be some kind of permanent decision-making
representation of Inuit people on the Arctic Council. You talked
about being taxpayers and being Canadian. How would you see that?
Would it be an indigenous presence, or maybe a Canadian
indigenous presence?

Hon. Charlie Watt: I guess there are two possible ways you can
look at that.

One is to keep the importance of the Inuit in the Arctic. Let them
become a chair of the Arctic Council. That's one.

Another possibility is that since the seven Arctic countries rotate
on the chairmanship, maybe they can be a co-chair to those rotating
different countries that take turns from time to time. I think it's every
three or four years. I think it's a three-year term. They need to have
more input. They don't feel comfortable enough at this point to say,
“This is the place where I can address my concerns.”

Ms. Robin Campbell: If I could follow up really quickly on your
question, you had asked how this would work and whether it would
be like ICC Canada.

If ICC could come and address the committee, it would be so
much better, but since they are not here right now, I will tell you that
they are a pan-Inuit body. They sit at the Arctic Council as
permanent participants already, as this pan-Inuit group, so it would
be looking at giving permanent participants the ability to make
decisions and have those decisions recognized.

The Chair: Just as a point of clarification for the committee
members, because they may not be aware, the Inuit Circumpolar
Council Canada, the ICC, was invited to participate in this panel and
was confirmed until yesterday, when there was some kind of
emergency and they had to cancel. They have said that they're going
to send in a brief. They were actually scheduled, I think as you know,
to be part of this particular panel today.

With that, we'll go to MP Blaikie, please.
®(1655)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Thank you very much.

I want to come back to some of the discussion we've had around a
framework for development or decisions going forward, some of
which will be development decisions. We heard a little bit from a
colleague about decisions being made without adequate consultation
to not have development go forward. We've heard recently from the
Federal Court in regard to some cases further south about
development going forward without adequate consultation.

Can you speak to the kind of framework you think we could put in
place, and to what extent having a framework that requires
consultation but without any decision-making authority or without
a seat at the decision-making table means in terms of the likely
success of indigenous peoples and Inuit feeling adequately
consulted?

What kind of framework might we put in place so that if there are
development decisions going forward in the north, Inuit feel that
they have been adequately consulted and that those consultations
have actually made a real impact in the decisions to proceed or not to
proceed, or to proceed in a way that was different from what was
originally envisioned by the project proponents?

Hon. Charlie Watt: There are many needs. Let me try to describe
them.

What you are asking is twofold. One is down the road, and the
other one is what we do now in coming up with a framework.

Are you talking about a framework in the same fashion that the
Government of Canada looks at a framework in regard to dealing
with domestic matters? We are comforted with that right now. There
have been several attempts to describe what that framework is going
to be. As far as I'm concerned, it's still very incomplete.
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When you are asking me, I guess you were asking me more at the
international level. I'm not sure whether nailing down a framework is
going to do it. I really feel, rather than trying to come up with a
framework, that you're going to end up discussing the issues and
eventually maybe the negotiations. What are we really doing talking
about a framework? Who are we preparing? Are we preparing
ourselves, as the Inuit people, that we would be a lot better off if we
come up with a framework, and that we know what the name of the
game is, and what we can touch and what we cannot touch? I don't
think that's the right way of dealing with it.

What you need to do is agree to recognize that we do exist, that
we have rights, and that therefore we have the rights to have the
discussion with our government. We have the right to exchange with
our government. Is simply writing a framework just a way of saying,
“Let's just delay that. Put that on the back burner. We'll deal with
later?”

I don't see how a framework is going to help us. It will probably
help the government. It could even be a disadvantage for us to try to
live through a framework that is going to be established, for the
domestic and also for the international aspects. A framework to me is
what is already imprinted in the Constitution itself. We also have a
land claims agreement. That is the framework. We have a role to play
with the government with regard to the ocean. That is the
framework.

What's wrong with what already exists and has been established
over the years? Why do we need to create another one all the time?

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Granted, there are a lot of rights that are
recognized in many different forums now. Hopefully soon, when my
colleague, Romeo Saganash's, bill goes through the Senate, as we
hope it will, it will be another re-emphasis of the importance of the
United Nations declaration.

Hon. Charlie Watt: I heard he lost his cool today.
® (1700)

Mr. Daniel Blaikie: Yes, he did lose his cool a little yesterday,
and one can understand why, in part because there are a lot of rights
for indigenous peoples that are recognized in many different ways,
but from the point of view of the process and when you get a
concrete project moving ahead, for all the success in the abstract,
when it comes to concrete projects, it doesn't seem to matter what
has been negotiated or not.

When I'm talking about a framework, I take your point that we
don't need another agreement, but we do need a way to actualize or
to put into motion what already exists on paper. I wonder what you
think that looks like in terms of what needs to change from the way
things are working now. If the development model that we're seeing
in many places across Canada right now when it comes to
indigenous people obtains as the north opens up, we can expect
similar types of conflicts and frustration by indigenous people who
feel that they're not being heard.

What do we have to do differently in order to honour those
commitments that we've already made in a number of different
forums and make sure that the development that is very likely going
to happen in the north happens in the right way and it's not
something that we're apologizing for 70, 80, or 90 years after the
fact?

The Chair: I'm sorry, but the time is up on that. Maybe you'll be
able to squeeze a short answer to MP Blaikie into one of the follow-
up questions.

Hon. Charlie Watt: Maybe I'll just get my lawyer to....
The Chair: We're going to move to MP Wrzesnewskyj, please.

Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj (Etobicoke Centre, Lib.): Thank you,
Chair.

Thank you, Senator Watt, for your compelling testimony. It's good
to have you back on the Hill.

Hon. Charlie Watt: I recognize you.

Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj: You touched on an issue that we're
grappling with: all of these overlaying claims of sovereignty by
different countries, and the indigenous claims. We also have a layer
to this that makes it very hard because of the concept of how
territorial claims are laid out: They're based on mapping and maps.

Our cultural understanding of maps is very different from the
cultural understanding of the land in the north. It's in the report that
your legal counsel produced back in 2012, wherein they talk about
the ice being just an extension of the land. Most of the time, it's ice.

When you began your testimony, you talked about how you had
mapped out the territories through which the Inuit ranged. It would
be tremendously helpful if we could get a copy of that map, at least
what is within Canadian territory, so that we have a full
comprehension of that range and how it overlies our claims to
sovereignty based on UN rules and international agreements,
because there's also this whole question. I don't know, but they
might not correspond, because in it, it also talks of the Inuit claim
going without interruption to the seaward-facing coast of the Arctic,
meaning Ellesmere Island, and so on. How far out does it range? If
we could be provided with that, it would be tremendously helpful.

Perhaps to the analyst, could we have clear maps of all seven
countries and their claims and what the international waters are, and
from the Inuit Circumpolar Council, the various Inuit groups from
those various countries and their claims, if they have them?
Although I'm sure the legal framework is very different in some of
those countries, that would at least help us start to try to sort things
out.

I make that request, if you'd like to address it. I'm thankful that
you mentioned the whole incident about Inuit being moved from
northern Quebec in 1955 to Ellesmere Island. It actually strengthens
Canada's case for sovereignty—

Hon. Charlie Watt: Exactly.
® (1705)
Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj: —but it is a painful historical episode.

Hon. Charlie Watt: Yes.
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In regard to your question, this mapping that I talked about had
nothing to do with making a claim. All it does is show how the Inuit
of the Arctic travel and interact, even though they're so far apart from
each other, and so on. Examples are Greenland and Canada or
Alaska and Canada.

It's a trail. It's a trail of the people, the movement of the people.
They've been fluctuating back and forth between the high north,
which is the top of the world, down to the bottom of where the last
Inuit people are—I shouldn't say last.

Labrador is also a part of it, so we did the mapping there too, and
in Quebec. This is big. The travel routes start from there, from the
bottom on up. Whether it was wintertime or summertime, you
travelled either by dog teams or by boat. This is what is on the trail.
That's what we have mapped out, but this has nothing to do with an
attempt to make a claim.

Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj: If 1 could come back to this, the
understanding of the environment is so different there, and of land
and ownership. It's a whole different understanding, as we heard in
the first hour. Here's where I have a problem. We have land claims
being made by one of the countries—Russia. According to the
Lomonosov Ridge, which is under the sea—

Hon. Charlie Watt: Along the continental shelf—

Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj: It extends all the way to Ellesmere
Island. It's not just a claim to Arctic international waters; it's claiming
Canadian territory based on rules that don't reflect the reality of the
north. Those were rules set by seafaring nations that weren't
icebound and that were trying to extend jurisdiction out from ports
that were accessible.

Those rules are being applied in an area where we don't
acknowledge land claims based on sea surface and ice. The UN,
however, appears to be perhaps on the cusp of saying that there
might be some claim based on ridges under the sea.

The Chair: MP Wrzesnewskyj—

Mr. Borys Wrzesnewskyj: Could we have your quick thoughts
on that? I'm struggling with some of it.

The Chair: I hear you. What I'll say now—and I'll use this to refer
to MP Blaikie's question too—is that there's clearly lots of
information being sought by the committee. We can have the clerk
follow up, but regarding MP Blaikie's question and the last question,
if you'd like to submit anything to the committee, we'll certainly take
that in. We clearly didn't have time to dig into some of these issues
more deeply. I do want to give time for members to ask their
questions.

We're going to move to three minutes for MP Baylis, and then
three minutes for MP Aboultaif as well.

Mr. Frank Baylis (Pierrefonds—Dollard, Lib.): Charlie, you
said you speak a different language. Which language do you speak,
your own language?

Hon. Charlie Watt: I speak the same language as the people in
the Arctic, Inuktitut.

Mr. Frank Baylis: I would like to understand something within
the context of your world, not our world. You come here, you speak
in English, you're wearing a tie and you're talking about something

that we care a lot about, which is sovereignty. We care because we
want control, we want resources, and so on.

If you were back home and speaking in your own language, how
would you be speaking about this whole issue? Would it even be a
discussion point, as nomadic people? What would be going on?

Hon. Charlie Watt: Do you want me to be honest with you?
Mr. Frank Baylis: Yes.
Hon. Charlie Watt: Then I'll say it in one way: You want it again.
Mr. Frank Baylis: You want it again...?

® (1710)

Hon. Charlie Watt: It's as in, ““You want to take it”. What we're
saying is that the southern people, people from other parts of the
world, want to extract the resources from under our feet. It cannot
happen just like that. That's what we're trying to say. If there are
transactions between the two, we have to be part of it.

Mr. Frank Baylis: If we weren't coming up and bothering you—

Hon. Charlie Watt: 1 wouldn't be bothering you.

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!

Mr. Frank Baylis: Among yourselves you wouldn't be arguing
about who owns the land, would you?

Hon. Charlie Watt: We know we own the land. We were there
before anybody else. How does the ownership begin? Think about
that.

Mr. Frank Baylis: You wouldn't be having a discussion like
“This piece is mine, you can't come here.” Would that be part of this?

Hon. Charlie Watt: If the Arctic is being treated as a country that
has symbolic state recognition, we would be operating very
differently with the Canadian government and with the other
countries, but the fact is that we're not recognized as a state. That's
why we can't participate, even though they're doing whatever they
can to try to extract certain things under our feet.

This is not a little issue. This affects people's lives, their social life
and mental life, their economy, their education, and the well-being of
Inuit. Those are important to us. It might not be important to the
people from the south, because they don't live with us on a daily
basis. I can understand that, but what the government will have to
recognize is not the question of rights, rights as existing in the
Arctic, because the rights are already there and already recognized.
They have a constitutional label on it.

The Chair: Thank you.

Ask a very short question, please, MP Aboultaif.

Mr. Ziad Aboultaif (Edmonton Manning, CPC): Thank you.
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We know one of the biggest problems out there in the Arctic area
is our very small population compared to other claimants of the area
from other nations. That is a fundamental problem. How do you get
the sovereignty you're looking for, extract the resources we need,
and have an overall plan for the next 100 years? How do you go
about that with a very small population?

Hon. Charlie Watt: The fact that we have a very small
population is one of the reasons we're counting on our Canadian
government to make sure they stick with us and be partners. We're
not looking at it any other way. If you kick us out of the country,
then maybe we have to think of something else, but today we're part
of you. We're no different from you. We pay taxes just like you. We

might have a certain set of rights as an ethnic component, but that's a
reality.

The Chair: Thank you very much to you both. Again, you've
given us lots to think about and probably a good amount to follow up
on as well.

Hon. Charlie Watt: We have lots more.
The Chair: Senator and Ms. Campbell, thank you for being here.

We're going to take 30 seconds. We'll suspend, and then we're
going in camera.

[Proceedings continue in camera]










Published under the authority of the Speaker of
the House of Commons

SPEAKER’S PERMISSION

Publié en conformité de I’autorité
du Président de la Chambre des communes

PERMISSION DU PRESIDENT

The proceedings of the House of Commons and its Commit-
tees are hereby made available to provide greater public
access. The parliamentary privilege of the House of Commons
to control the publication and broadcast of the proceedings of
the House of Commons and its Committees is nonetheless
reserved. All copyrights therein are also reserved.

Reproduction of the proceedings of the House of Commons
and its Committees, in whole or in part and in any medium, is
hereby permitted provided that the reproduction is accurate
and is not presented as official. This permission does not
extend to reproduction, distribution or use for commercial
purpose of financial gain. Reproduction or use outside this
permission or without authorization may be treated as
copyright infringement in accordance with the Copyright Act.
Authorization may be obtained on written application to the
Office of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

Reproduction in accordance with this permission does not
constitute publication under the authority of the House of
Commons. The absolute privilege that applies to the
proceedings of the House of Commons does not extend to
these permitted reproductions. Where a reproduction includes
briefs to a Committee of the House of Commons, authoriza-
tion for reproduction may be required from the authors in
accordance with the Copyright Act.

Nothing in this permission abrogates or derogates from the
privileges, powers, immunities and rights of the House of
Commons and its Committees. For greater certainty, this
permission does not affect the prohibition against impeaching
or questioning the proceedings of the House of Commons in
courts or otherwise. The House of Commons retains the right
and privilege to find users in contempt of Parliament if a
reproduction or use is not in accordance with this permission.

Les délibérations de la Chambre des communes et de ses
comités sont mises a la disposition du public pour mieux le
renseigner. La Chambre conserve néanmoins son privilége
parlementaire de controdler la publication et la diffusion des
délibérations et elle posséde tous les droits d’auteur sur celles-
ci.

Il est permis de reproduire les délibérations de la Chambre et
de ses comités, en tout ou en partie, sur n’importe quel
support, pourvu que la reproduction soit exacte et qu’elle ne
soit pas présentée comme version officielle. Il n’est toutefois
pas permis de reproduire, de distribuer ou d’utiliser les
délibérations a des fins commerciales visant la réalisation d'un
profit financier. Toute reproduction ou utilisation non permise
ou non formellement autorisée peut étre considérée comme
une violation du droit d’auteur aux termes de la Loi sur le
droit d’auteur. Une autorisation formelle peut étre obtenue sur
présentation d’une demande écrite au Bureau du Président de
la Chambre.

La reproduction conforme a la présente permission ne
constitue pas une publication sous I’autorité de la Chambre.
Le privilége absolu qui s’applique aux délibérations de la
Chambre ne s’étend pas aux reproductions permises. Lors-
qu’une reproduction comprend des mémoires présentés a un
comité de la Chambre, il peut étre nécessaire d’obtenir de
leurs auteurs I’autorisation de les reproduire, conformément a
la Loi sur le droit d’auteur.

La présente permission ne porte pas atteinte aux priviléges,
pouvoirs, immunités et droits de la Chambre et de ses comités.
Il est entendu que cette permission ne touche pas I’'interdiction
de contester ou de mettre en cause les délibérations de la
Chambre devant les tribunaux ou autrement. La Chambre
conserve le droit et le privilege de déclarer ’utilisateur
coupable d’outrage au Parlement lorsque la reproduction ou
I’utilisation n’est pas conforme a la présente permission.

Also available on the House of Commons website at the
following address: http://www.ourcommons.ca

Aussi disponible sur le site Web de la Chambre des communes
a I’adresse suivante : http://www.noscommunes.ca



